IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No. 77,850 [District Court Case No. 90-2071]

FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES, INC., a non-profit Florida corporation; FLORIDA LEAGUE OF CITIES, INC., a non-profit Florida corporation; and SANDRA GLENN and ROBERT ANDERSON, citizens and taxpayers of the State of Florida and respectively of Seminole County and Sarasota County, Florida,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

vs.

DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION, DIVISION OF RETIREMENT, an agency of the State of Florida; PROFESSIONAL FIRE FIGHTERS OF FLORIDA, a labor organization; and the FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, a labor organization,

Defendant/Intervenors/Appellees.

FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE:

Title 22D-1, section 22D-1.002 [Definitions], paragraph (f)8

OTHER AUTHORITIES:

Report of the Judicial Council of Florida (July 1991), Prepared by the Article V Subcommittee of the Council 26-27

STATEMENT OF THE CASE & OF THE FACTS

In presenting the Statement of the Case and of the Facts for review by this Court of the decisions below, these appellants¹ begin by quoting the pertinent statement of the case and of the facts as set forth by the First District Court of Appeal. The First District's opinion [see TAB at end of this Brief] reports:

This is an appeal from a final judgment holding that chapter 88-238, Laws of Florida, which funded increases in retirement benefits of special risk members of the Florida Retirement System (FRS), does not violate article X, section 14 of the Florida Constitution (footnote quoting the constitutional provision is omitted). Appellants sought a declaration that would hold chapter 88-238 to be an improper exercise of the state's taxing and spending authority because it funded the costs of increased benefits to special risk members, composed of fire fighters and law enforcement officers, by assertedly shifting the burdens from current to future taxpayers in violation of article X, section 14 of the state constitution. They named the Department of Administration, Division of Retirement (DOA), as defendant. The Florida Police Benevolent Association (PBA) and Professional Fire Fighters of Florida (PFF) intervened as defendants, and cross appealed, raising issues of hearsay and standing. We affirm.

Chapter 88-238, amended various sections of the Florida Retirement System Act² by increasing the retirement benefit of special risk members from two to three percent of average monthly compensation, and increasing the corresponding employer contribution effective January 1, 1989. The act provides for a phase-in of contributions and benefits over a five year period as follows:

% Increase in	% Increase in
<u>Contributions</u> ³	<u>benefits</u> ⁴
1.6	2.2
3.2	2.4
4.8	2.6
6.4	2.8
8.0	3.0
	<u>Contributions</u> ³ 1.6 3.2 4.8

1. This brief is specifically identified as the Initial Brief of the Florida Association of Counties, Inc. and the Individual Taxpayers. The co-appellant Florida League of Cities, Inc. is filing its own separate initial brief.

2. Ch. 121, Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988). [This is identical to the court's footnote in the original.]

3. Ch. 88-238, s. 1, Laws of Fla. (codified at s. 121.071(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988). [Identical to court's footnote in original.]

4. Ch. 88-238, s. 2, Laws of Fla. (codified at s. 121.091(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988). [Identical to court's footnote in original.]

Appellants contend that the legislative scheme facially places on future taxpayers a discriminatory and inequitable burden to pay the cost of increased benefits that assertedly should be borne by current taxpayers. They argue, for example, that the taxpayers in 1993, and after, must pay five times the rate of 1989 taxpayers, thus violating article X, section 14, which requires that the benefit increases must be funded "on a sound actuarial basis." Although the standard has significance in contexts not relevant here,⁵ few courts have addressed Article X, section 14,⁶ and we find no opinion which has definitively considered the meaning of the phrase "sound actuarial basis."

The diversity of expert opinions at trial would indicate that the phrase "sound actuarial basis" is not precisely defined in actuarial science. In one instance, actuarial soundness of a plan to increase benefits of a particular class may require the plan to prefund benefits of the class such that the assets on hand are sufficient to meet current obligations. In another, a plan to increase benefits of a particular class must first provide for the funding of the unfunded liability of the entire system. An intermediate position would permit a phase-in plan that funds the normal cost and amortizes past liability over a reasonable period, and funds each benefit increase as it becomes due rather than when it is enacted. [Emphasis, both bold and italics added by appellants, for reference below.]

Faced with the absence of clear agreement among the experts who testified at trial on the meaning of "sound actuarial basis," the trial court accepted a "consensus" definition, and held that "a retirement program must be funded in such a way that the retirement fund is able to meet its continuing obligations as and when they mature." The trial court found that the phase-in of benefits and contributions is reasonably coordinated, producing no significant disparity between the obligations of current and future taxpayers. The court concluded that the funding scheme used in chpater 88-238 is consistent with article X, section 14.

5. <u>See</u>, e.g., Department of Ins. v. Southeast Volusia Hosp. Dist., 438 So.2d 815, 819 (Fla. 1983), <u>appeal dismissed</u>, 466 U.S. 901 (1984). [Identical to court's footnote in original.]

6. The court's footnote citing five different opinions, is omitted here. There is some discussion of cited cases in the Argument.

7. The appellate court's own footnote reads:

7. The phase-in scheme selected by the legislature to fund the benefit increases provided in chapter 88-238 is a clear departure from the plans used to fund benefit increases in the past. Customarily, the state has paid for increases in FRS benefits by amortizing the associated costs at a single rate over a thirty-year period. Appellants concede that article X, section 14 of the Florida Constitution does not dictate such a plan. [Emphasis added by appellants.]

Appellants conceded only that the constitutional provision does not dictate

* * *

Although the trial court orally indicated a belief that the statutory plan *may*⁶ be "an unwise and imprudent basis" for departing from the "entry age normal cost concept" (level cost method) customarily used to fund increases in FRS benefits, it deferred to the policy choices of the coordinate legislative branch as a means of accomplishing legislative intent.

More on the "Unwise and Imprudent" Character of the "Basis" for Funding Under Chapter 88-238

In PBA's [Police Benevolent Association's] "Statement of the Case and Facts"

in its Answer Brief on Jurisdiction, the PBA emphasized the above use of the word

"may" by the District Court with respect to that court's understanding of what the

trial court orally stated in explaining his decision.⁹

the continued use of the traditional basis for funding increased benefits under any and all circumstances.

8. In PBA's own "Statement of the Case and Facts" to this Court in its Answer Brief on Jurisdiction [at 5], the PBA provided the emphasis on the word "may" - as to what the trial judge did or did not say in his very thorough oral explanation of his decision. PBA so emphasized the word "may" after having earlier said that "Petitioners' statement of the case and of the facts distorts the record by presenting only selected excerpts which the lower courts found unpersuasive." [See PBA Answer Brief on Jurisdiction at 2.]

Thus, these appellants urge this Court to read the full text (eleven pages) of the trial judge's oral "explication" (to use his word) of his decision in this case. [See Appellants' APPENDIX, TAB 3.]

[As fully presented in Argument, there is no question but that the trial judge determined, clearly, that the funding "basis" adopted by the 1988 Legislature through and in Chapter 88-238 was both "unwise" *and* "imprudent." There is no "maybe" about the matter. He just refused to go the next step: equate the "unwise and imprudent basis" for funding to unsound (to wit: unconstitutional) funding of the subject five annual changes in benefits.]

9. PBA not only emphasized the use of the word "may" by the appellate court (in its "Statement of the Case and Facts" to *this* Court), but also argued that the appellate court did "not adopt" that view as its own, but rather that it reported that view as "nothing more than a reminder that the judiciary cannot speculate on, much less judicially review, the wisdom of legislative funding schemes under established separation-of-powers principles." [PBA Answer Brief on Jurisdiction at 5.]

Appellants will present, in their Argument section, just how this attitude precisely redefines with much more clarity in *this* Court than in the courts below, the nature of appellants' challenge to the constitutionality of Chapter 88-238: the funding basis is "unsound."

What the trial judge actually said 10, is as follows:

I think that it is apparent that the Florida Retirement System is based on a firm foundation of entry age normal cost concept. 88-238 is a departure, in my estimation, from that scheme. It is *inconsistent* with the scheme. It is *inconsistent* with prior language or language found in other parts of the statute or chapter. But it is my finding, as a matter of law, that the Legislature or the legislative branch has the prerogative to depart from that scheme or to be inconsistent therewith as long as it is not violative of Article X, Section 14 of the Florida Constitution.

That is a reluctant conclusion, because my personal view of it is that *it was an unwise and imprudent basis*, but that it is not the function of the judicial branch to sit in judgment on the prudence or lack thereof of the legislative branch, but to determine whether the actions of that branch, when reviewed by the judicial branch, pass the constitutional test, in this instance, the measure set forth in Article X, section 14.

[Appellants' APPENDIX Vol. I, TAB 3 at 6.]

Then, upon questioning by counsel as to the court's statement concerning the

funding under Chapter 88-238 being on "an unwise and imprudent basis" the trial

judge added:

I think one of the witnesses said you have to determine what is your target benefit that you've got to anticipate being paid and over what period of time, and then determine *an appropriate rate* to apply to payroll *over that period of time* that will generate the necessary funds for the system to meet those retirement obligations, as and when they occur.

I viewed the testimony of the witnesses Mr. $McMullian^{11}$ and Mr. Gibney¹² specifically to articulate that very clearly; that they deemed that

10. These appellants here present in the next subsequent text, in considerable detail, the very clear voluntary "explication" by the trial judge of his decision.

As presented by appellants more fully in their Argument section, they welcome and urge this Court to closely scutinize both the expressed findings and conclusions of the trial court (and district court), and its (their) deference to the expressed "prerogative" of the 1988 Legislature to increase retirement benefits in the way that it did.

11. Director of the Division of Retirement of the defendant Department of Administration.

12. State Actuary, employed by the Division of Retirement to oversee the Florida Retirement System.

approach to be way that the system should be run; that that's the way they had designed the system or carried out the implementation of the design of the system, and that they viewed, in their opinion, the phase-in of benefits and the phase-in of contributions from two to three percent over a five-year period to be inconsistent with that; and not only inconsistent, but not a wise and prudent way to do it.

I concur with that, but it is not their function nor is it my function to concur with it or not concur with it based on how I think the little machine ought to operate. I have to look at it from the constitutional measure. And it was in that context that I think that if I had been a lever puller in the Legislature I probably would have voted no because of its inconsistency, but I'm not a lever puller in the Legislature.

* * *

I think it is *inconsistent* with the system, but I don't think that the system runs the Legislature. I think the Legislature in that branch of government has the *prerogative* to depart from the established way that it has been done, and even in an inconsistent way with which it is being done, so long as it meets the standard in Article X, section 14 of a sound actuarial basis, and that is, will this produce the necessary - not the desired - the necessary results of funding those retirement obligations as and when they mature? And based on what I heard, I came to the conclusion, yes, it will do that.

* * *

And doubtless this is going up, so if there are any other areas in which there is desired to some explication, I will be happy to do it.

Additional Facts from the Record

The appellants presented the following as their statement of the case and of the facts when presenting their petitioners' Brief on Jurisdiction. Additions to that statement are indicated by an aesterisk [*] before each paragraph or sentence which consists of facts (without the argument) that the intervenor PBA added (when presenting its Answer Brief on Jurisdiction) "to present a more fair and complete picture of the record".

The Florida Retirement System [FRS] is a consolidated system that encompasses public employees at all levels of government in Florida, presently covering over 500,000 active members and approximately 800 different public employers at all levels of government. [Transcript of Trial Testimony (hereinafter "T") at 64 - 65.] The counties are compulsory members. [T at 64.] The Defendant DEPARTMENT is receiving contributions from counties and cities as a result of the Act challenged in this litigation. [T at 67.]

The FRS had "unfunded liability" or debt (liabilities exceeding assets) from its beginning, which continued to grow each year. [T at 85.] The debt or unfunded liability started at about \$1.5-billion in 1970. [T at 80.] It grew and grew, because simply put, the legislature did not direct enough money into the system to properly fund the promised benefits. [T at 85.] This led to the adoption of the constitutional amendment in 1976 which is Article X, Section 14 of the Florida Constitution. [T at 85.]

Specifically as to the phasing-in of contribution rates and benefit accrual rates by the challenged Act [Chapter 88-238, Laws of Florida], the DEPARTMENT's consulting actuaries noted that "phasing in future costs of benefit increases represents a serious erosion in the System's financial integrity and should be avoided" and that the phasing-in of the "certain" costs of increases in future benefits would be a "dangerous precedent for the System." [See Record below, letter to the DEPARTMENT from the consulting actuaries, Exhibit #5 in evidence, included at TAB 5 of Appellants' APPENDIX filed in the district court.]

[*] Five actuaries testified at trial. The evidence showed that the multi-step or non-level basis for funding (with automatic annual increases in contribution rates), as enacted in Chapter 88-238, would produce (certainly "eventually") the same or greater funding to cover the scheduled benefit increases in comparison with the single-step or level funding method (same contribution rate over 30 years) which was preferred by the State's consulting actuary and traditionally used to fund increased benefits under the FRS. [T at 304, 442, 483-93.] The trial judge expressly determined that the multi-step funding schedule in Chapter 88-238 produced sufficient funds to enable the system to meet its increased obligations, on a continuing basis, as and when they mature.

Appellants conceded that fact.

[*] The gist of the appellants' challenge is and has been that the automatic annual increases burden future taxpayers with the cost of funding the increased benefits on an unconstitutional basis (*i.e.* not "on a sound actuarial basis"). Appellants' actuarial witness declined even to calculate the sufficiency of the funding schedule under Chapter 88-238 to determine if the funds would meet the system's increased benefit obligations. [T at 379-380.] In his view the automatic annual increases (non-level contribution rate schedule) did not constitute funding on a sound actuarial basis regardless of whether the funding through those increases produced sufficient funds to meet the increased benefit obligations.

[*] The intervenors presented actuarial testimony that the non-level or multistep funding approach was coordinated with the phased-in increase in benefits and was a more fair allocation of the burden than the single-step increase would have been had it been effected. The intervenors' witnesses testified that this approach (multi-step increases) would even avoid an overpayment by current taxpayers. [T at 442, 480-491.]

[*] The trial judge agreed with intervenors that the Chapter 88-238 funding basis did not discriminate in favor of current taxpayers and against future taxpayers. [T at 585-86, R 108-109.]

Because it was the last day of the regular session when the 1988 Legislature acted on the bill, the DEPARTMENT furnished no figures to the legislature on the effects or impacts of the proposed amendment of that day, which amendment phased-in the benefit and contribution rates over a five-year period. [T at 141 - 142.] The bill was passed, as amended with the phasing-in of rates, with technical flaws on the face of the bill. [T at 143.] There were three time periods in the bill in which the time frame actually measured zero. [T at 144.] The overall unfunded liability of the FRS had risen to more than \$10-billion by July 1987 [T at 157] and to more than \$14-billion by July 1989. [R in 1989 Report in evidence.] [*] Chapter 88-238, Laws of Florida, created an unfunded liability of \$250 million. [T at 159.]

The defendant DEPARTMENT held steadfastly through trial to the proposition that the reason the DEPARTMENT has always used the same contribution rate over the entire amortization period to fund any particular increase in benefits (phased or not) is to spread the cost equally and equitably and in an orderly fashion among all taxpayers over the period. [T at 163-164, 166.] Through trial the DEPARTMENT's position did not change, that the funding provision of Chapter 88-238 is unconstitutional, not on a sound basis, and not in accordance with the Division of Retirement's past ways of assuring the proper funding of the FRS. [T at 147.] The DEPARTMENT's actuary for its local pension plans (outside the FRS) emphatically stated that, as a matter of fact and departmental policy, he and the department would not approve a phasing-in of contribution rates to fund the cost of any benefit increase submitted by any city government to the department for its approval. [T at 150, 291-292.]

[*] All required contributions pursuant to Chapter 88-238 have been made by public employers. [t at 50, 58 and 67.] The State Retirement Director testified that the public employer's fiscal hardship is not a factor used by the defendant Department in determining whether a plan is funded on a sound actuarial basis. [T at 194, 199 and 256.]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In construing provisions of the Florida Constitution, we (the justices) are obliged to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the framers and the people.¹

Respectfully, appellants call on this Court to assure the people of Florida that the judicial branch will construe Article X, Section 14, as being constitutionally meaningful as a constraint on the legislative branch. Quite simply put, the explicit and implicit intent of the people by their adoption of that provision was to prevent and preclude legislative action just such as that challenged here.

This appeal brings to this Court a clear example of how and why it is that Article X, section 14, requires *more* of a legislature than just that it provide enough money as and when needed to pay for particular legislatively-increased retirement benefits.

The constitutional construction strongly urged and sought here is that no legislature may constitutionally postpone to future years and to future taxpayers (considerably beyond that legislature's own tenure in office) the substantial fiscal impact of its current enactment of changes (increases) in public employee retirement benefits. That is so regardless of whether the funding covers the costs of the increased benefits. Who pays how much and when, is also constitutionally important.

It would be a "dangerous precedent" to allow the 1988 legislature to postpone the major fiscal impacts of its package of increased benefits well past the two next subsequent legislative bienniums. Under the challenged legislation, the people of Florida will not fully realize and experience the full financial impact and brunt of the economic burdens automatically and increasingly heaped upon them by the 1988 Legislature over a five-year period, until 1993 and thereafter.

^{1.} Gallant v. Stephens, 358 So. 2d 536, 539 (Fla. 1978), citing State ex rel. Dade County v. Dickinson, 230 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1969) and Gray v. Bryant, 125 So.2d 846 (Fla. 1960).

The constitutional mandate of Article X, section 14, is that there must be a legislative provision for funding of any particular increases in benefits, which funding must be on a "sound" basis. To these appellants, that means that any new, different and untried "basis" for the funding of any particular increased benefits, must itself (the basis) be a wise funding basis, a prudent funding basis, to wit: a "sound" funding basis.

In terms of the methodology adopted by the 1988 Legislature for funding the particular increased public employee retirement benefits approved by Chapter 88-238, Laws of Florida, the "basis" for the funding was quite plainly and simply, both "unwise" and "imprudent." The trial judge expressly so determined, and emphatically and clearly so stated.

Even so, the trial court deferred to the "prerogative" of the legislative branch to constitutionally adopt such "an unwise and imprudent basis" for funding the particular increase in benefits. The trial court did not equate such "unwise and imprudent basis" for funding with "unsound" funding in the constitutional sense. The district court affirmed, approving such judicial deference.

It is that deference to legislative prerogative which is the judicial error below.

Respectfully, this Court should reverse, confirming that Article X, section 14, means what it says as a constraint on the legislative branch.

Chapter 88-238 should be declared to be unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

CHAPTER 88-238, LAWS OF FLORIDA, **PROVIDED FOR FIVE AUTOMATIC ANNUAL** PUBLIC INCREASES IN EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND IN THE FUNDING OF THOSE INCREASED BENEFITS, CONTRARY TO THE SPIRIT AND INTENT OF OF THE STATE ARTICLE X, SECTION 14, CONSTITUTION

Introduction

According to the State's own consulting actuaries, and the State through its own officials, the challenged legislation (Chapter 88-238, Laws of Florida) exists as a "dangerous precedent" for the Florida Retirement System.²

In spite of Florida's leadership in the Nation in the adoption of the pertinent constitutional limitation on the ability of legislative bodies to grant retirement benefits to public employees without properly funding them at the same time, the 1988 Legislature has attempted an end-run around those limitations (and a successful one thus far).

Appellants strongly assert that Article X, section 14 (consistent with contemporaneous legislation construing the meaning of the pertinent constitutional language) precludes the Legislature from further endangering the Florida Retirement System [FRS] through passage of that act and any others like it.

Chapter 88-238, Laws of Florida, enacted by the 1988 Legislature, facially postpones to future years the payment of the substantial bill for the particular increased benefits, which will automatically increase each year for five years. It is possible (but not conceded by appellants) that even this court may agree with the district court and the trial judge that the Act's treatment of future taxpayers may not be significantly discriminatory (in terms of degree) and may not impose upon them

^{2.} See May 31, 1988, letter from consulting actuaries to the Department of Administration, particularly the last sentence of third paragraph. Exhibit #5, Appendix Documents TAB 5.

an impressively inequitable burden of paying for the cost of the particular increased benefits, when viewed in light of the successful argument thus far advanced by the other side, that the benefits themselves, as well as the costs, also are "phased-in" over a period of years.

Even in such event, however, there is no escaping the obvious: that Chapter 88-238, Laws of Florida, nevertheless is little more than a clever legislative manuever by the 1988 Legislature a) to satisfy the legislative goals of a specific group of public employees (to increase their benefits to a certain level); b) to immediately reap whatever political benefits could be gained from such a legislative enactment, in an election year; and c) to postpone to the future (five years hence) the inevitable substantial financial and fiscal consequences (and any political repercussions therefrom).³

3. The district court recognized that Chapter 88-238 provides the funding for the said automatic annual increases in retirement benefits, by requiring five separate, annual, incremental changes (1.60% each year), in the contribution rate which is required to be used by public employers in calculating the amounts to be paid into the FRS by them:

	Cumulative increase in Contribution rate as %
For Year	of Applicable Payroll
1989	1.60%
1990	3.20%
1991	4.80%
1992	6.40%
1993 and after	8.00%

The trial judge saw these same contribution rates. He says there is no discrimination between taxpayers in the written Final Judgment, pages 2-3, paragraph 6, in Appendix Vol. I, TAB 1. This statement must be attributed to the obfuscation of the obvious by the intervenors in their discussion of the impact of the phase-in of the *benefits* portion of the Act. However, that is an "apples and oranges" comparison.

The fact that the Act phased-in the increases in benefits cannot change the actual major fiscal impact on later taxpayers, as opposed to current taxpayers, of the phase-in of the increase in amounts to be contributed. Whether or not that difference in impact is deemed to be discriminatory, it certainly is *substantially greater* on future taxpayers.

For evidence that the difference is discriminatory, see e.g., Exhibit #5,

This Act (Chapter 88-238) is exactly the kind of legislative action that the people of the State of Florida can rightfully expect to be struck down as a result of their adoption of Article X, section 14, of the Florida Constitution.⁴

A Quick Recap of the Trial Court's Decision

The trial judge expressly stated that his decision in upholding the challenged Act was a "reluctant" one. He found that the "funding method employed by Chapter 88-238 is a departure from that method (historically and continuously utilized by the FRS)."⁵ He clearly found that the provision in the Act for funding the cost of the increased benefits was on an "unwise" *and* "imprudent" basis (and the trial judge himself used the word "basis").⁶ He further found that the Act also was

Appendix Vol. I, TAB 5 and Exhibit #9, Appendix Vol. I, TAB 9, particularly the language in paragraph numbered 3 on page 2 of the letter from the State's consulting actuaries. That letter includes the following:

"Actuarial funding of the FRS does not equate to funding in each particular year the value of benefits earned in that same year. *Sound actuarial funding requires* a determination of the value of all <u>future</u> benefits to be paid to the current workforce and then spreads this value evenly over future payrolls. Since an ultimate 3% accrual rate for Special Risk members would be a future certainty, the actuarial process requires that funding of these benefits commence immediately." [Underlining in original; italics added.]

"... To do otherwise would result in transferring current costs to future taxpayers." [emphasis added.]

* *

See also, Winklevoss testimony, Transcript Vol. III at 370 -371; Appendix Excerpts at 85 -86.

4. Article X, section 14 must protect taxpayers from politically expedient automatic future increases in retirement benefits made by one Legislature, such as here, where the burden of paying the cost of those automatic increases in benefits is conveniently shifted to future generations of taxpayers who will become the angry constituents of tomorrow of legislators (and a later Legislature) not yet elected to office.

5. Final Judgment, page 4, paragraph 7, Appendix Vol. 1, TAB 1 (parenthetcial added, referring to the "entry age normal cost method" - historically and continuously utilized by the FRS).

"inconsistent" with the then-existing legislative construction of the meaning of the constitutional language.⁷

Nevertheless, the trial judge deferred to the "prerogative of the Legislature" rather than invalidate the Act.⁸ During the trial itself, he indicated that he believed actuarial soundness hinged simply on whether legislative funding provisions would produce enough funds to meet the FRS's liability to pay the particular benefits.⁹

Article X, Section 14 -A Restriction on All Florida Legislative Bodies, Including the Legislature of Florida

In 1976, the voters of Florida adopted Article X, Section 14, of the Florida Constitution. That provision reads:

SECTION 14. State retirement systems benefit changes. - A governmental unit responsible for any retirement or pension system supported in whole or in part by public funds shall not after January 1, 1977, provide any increase in the benefits to the members or beneficiaries of such system unless such unit has made or concurrently makes provision for the funding of the increase in benefits on a sound actuarial basis. [bold emphasis in title in original]

As noted in the testimony of the longtime director of the Division of

6. See the oral comments by Judge Hall in making his ruling, prior to entry of the formal Final Judgment, and in response to questions about his ruling. Transcript, Vol. IV at 586; Appendix Vol I, TAB 2 [Excerpts of Trial Judge's Oral Announcement of Ruling] at 6.

7. See comments of Judge Hall in Transcript, Vol. IV at 586, lines 14-17; Appendix Vol. I, TAB 2 at 6, lines 7-10. The reference is rather apparently to section 112.61, Florida Statutes (1988), though not expressly so.

The intervenors may argue that the judge's comments are not so clear. If so, then such argument will be dealt with in the appellants' Reply Brief.

8. Final Judgment, page 4, paragraph 11. See Appendix Vol. I, TAB 1.

9. See *e.g.*, Judge Hall's statement during the testimony of actuary Dr. Howard Winklevoss, in Vol. III at 358, line 13, where he (the judge) discounted efforts to "extol the virtues of level funding." He shortly added that if the funds provided by the Act meet the liabilities, then the funding "passes constitutional muster." See Vol. III at 360, lines 2 - 10; Appendix Vol. II, Excerpts at 81.

As noted, appellants never suggested that the Act would not produce sufficient funds.

Retirement, the background to the enactment of that constitutional amendment included an unpleasant recognition of Florida history. This concerned the evergrowing "unfunded liability" or debt of the state's various public employee retirement systems. The Florida Retirement System has experienced a continued growth in that unfunded liability, which went from about \$1-billion when established in 1970, to \$3.5-billion by the time of the enactment of Article X, section 14.

Even thereafter, the unfunded liability continued to grow, to more than \$10billion by July 1987, and then to over \$14-billion by July 1989. It is undisputed that the enactment of this challenged legislation, *alone*, caused an immediate increase in the "unfunded liability" of \$250,000,000.

It might seem elementary that the restrictions as to what any Florida legislative body must provide (in the way of provision for funding of particular increased benefits on a sound actuarial basis), would be the same both for the Florida Legislature and for Florida's city governments which administer and operate their own retirement systems (separate and apart from the FRS). Indeed, the pertinent statute (in Part VII of Chapter 112, Florida Statutes) purports by its own terms to apply its provisions to the state as well as to local governments.¹⁰ Further, according to the administrative rules promulgated by the defendant Florida Division

Nonetheless, the decisions below defer to the "prerogative" of the Legislature, effectively exempting the Legislature from such construction of Article X, section 14.

^{10.} Section 112.62, Florida Statutes, reads:

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