047 D.A. 2-3-92

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Cleri

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,850

FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF COUNTIES, INC., a non-profit Florida corporation; FLORIDA LEAGUE OF CITIES, INC., a non-profit Florida corporation; and SANDRA GLENN and ROBERT ANDERSON, citizens and taxpayers of the State of Florida and respectively of Seminole County and Sarasota County, Florida,

Appellants,

vs.

DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION, DIVISION OF RETIREMENT, an agency of the State of Florida; PROFESSIONAL FIRE FIGHTERS OF FLORIDA, a labor organization; and FLORIDA POLICE BENEVOLENT ASSOCIATION, a labor organization,

Appellees.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Department of Administration recognizes that laws are presumed valid, and executive officials ordinarily must not challenge the constitutionality of laws they are called upon to administer. The state retirement system, however, now faces a \$14 billion unfunded liability. In view of this unfunded liability, much depends on the outcome of the issue before the Court as to the constitutionality of chapter 88-238, Laws of Florida, in light of Article 10, § 14 of the Florida Constitution, which was approved by the voters in November, 1976. A precedent should not be set which could, at the least, worsen this looming deficit.

In construing a constitutional provision, the goal intended to be accomplished or the evil sought to be prevented or remedied must be examined to ascertain the intent of the people. In making this determination, a constitutional provision should be liberally construed to effect that intent.

In that the purpose of this constitutional provision is to assure that public employer retirement pay or pension increases are adequately funded, it is suggested that this constitutional provision be strictly construed in favor of those who are the intended beneficiaries. In light of the presumptions accorded statutes, the method by which constitutional provisions are construed, and the importance of the issue before the Court, the Department of Administration suggests that the constitutional provision be construed in favor of the intended beneficiaries.

ARGUMENT

The Department of Administration recognizes that laws are presumed valid, <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 152 (Fla. 1981), and that executive officials ordinarily must not challenge the constitutionality of laws they are called upon to administer. <u>See State ex rel. Watson v. Kirkman</u>, 158 Fla. 11, 27 So.2d 610 (1946).

However, in view of the state retirement system's \$14 billion unfunded liability¹, much depends on the outcome of the issue before this Court as to the constitutionality of chapter 88-238, Laws of Florida, under Article X, § 14 of the Florida Constitution. This Court should not set a precedent which could work to the detriment of the fund and its beneficiaries.

In construing a constitutional provision, the goal intended to be accomplished, or the evil sought to be prevented or remedied, must be examined in order to

Report of Milliman & Robertson, Inc., 1989, Section I-1, in evidence.

ascertain the intent of the people in initiating enactment of that provision. State, Commission on Ethics v. Sullivan, 449 So.2d 315 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), rev. denied, Commission Ethics v. Sullivan, 458 So.2d 271 (Fla. 1984). Consistent with this approach are two fundamental principles constitutional constitutional adjudication: that of should receive a broader and more provisions construction than statutes and that they "should not be construed so as to defeat their underlying objectives." Florida Society of Ophthalmology v. Florida Ophthalmetric Association, 489 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 1986).

This Court has not yet addressed what the phrase "sound actuarial basis" means for Florida constitutional purposes. However, the Attorney General of Florida, in AGO 078-34, issued March 2, 1978, stated:

The purpose of this constitutional amendment was to assure that public employer retirement pay or pension increases are adequately funded. . . .

The phrase "sound actuarial basis" appearing in the constitution . . . requires retirement and pension systems to accumulate and administer their reserves in accordance with the principles of the actuarial profession so as to cover probable claims resulting from benefit increases.

Consistent with the principles espoused above and the purpose of the constitutional provision, it is suggested that the provision be construed in favor of those who are the beneficiaries of the language the people placed in their

constitution: that is, those who depend upon a <u>sound</u> fund for their future benefits. The constitutional language should not be construed in any way that would tend to undermine the actuarial soundness of the retirement system.

CONCLUSION

For the above-stated reasons, the Department of Administration submits that Article X, § 14 of the Florida Constitution be construed in favor of its intended beneficiaries.